
 

 
 

 

 
 

Alcohol and Entertainment 
Licensing Sub-Committee 
 

Wednesday 7 June 2023 at 10.00 am 
Boardroom 2, 3rd Floor, Brent Civic Centre 
Please note that this meeting will be held in person with members of the Sub-
Committee required to attend in person. 
 

The press and public are also welcome to attend this meeting in 
person. Please note the meeting is not scheduled for live webcast 
 

Membership: 
 
Members Substitute Members 
Councillors: Councillors: 
 

Long (Vice-Chair) 
Chohan 
Hack 
 
 
 

Ahmed, Bajwa, Collymore, Ethapemi, Mahmood, 
Lorber, Rubin 

 

For further information contact: Devbai Bhanji, Governance Assistant 
Tel: 020 8937 6841; Email: devbai.bhanji@brent.gov.uk 

 

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit: 

www.brent.gov.uk/committees 

 
 

The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting 
 

Public Document Pack



 

2 
 

Notes for Members - Declarations of Interest: 
 

If a Member is aware they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business, they 
must declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent and 
must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item.  
 

If a Member is aware they have a Personal Interest** in an item of business, they must declare its 
existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent. 
 

If the Personal Interest is also significant enough to affect your judgement of a public interest and 
either it affects a financial position or relates to a regulatory matter then after disclosing the 
interest to the meeting the Member must leave the room without participating in discussion of the 
item, except that they may first make representations, answer questions or give evidence relating 
to the matter, provided that the public are allowed to attend the meeting for those purposes. 
 
*Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
(a)  Employment, etc. - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 

profit gain. 
(b)  Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of expenses in carrying 

out duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union.  
(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the Councillors or 

their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the council. 
(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer. 
(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest. 
(g)  Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of business or 

land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued 
share capital. 

 

**Personal Interests: 
The business relates to or affects: 
(a) Anybody of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management, and: 

 To which you are appointed by the council; 

 which exercises functions of a public nature; 

 which is directed is to charitable purposes; 

 whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy (including a 
political party of trade union). 

(b) The interests a of a person from whom you have received gifts or hospitality of at least £50 as 
a member in the municipal year;  

or 
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or 
financial position of: 

 You yourself; 

 a member of your family or your friend or any person with whom you have a close 
association or any person or body who is the subject of a registrable personal interest.  

 



 

3 
 

 
Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members  
 

 

2 Declarations of Interests  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, the nature 
and existence of any relevant disclosable pecuniary or personal interests 
in the items on this agenda and to specify the item(s) to which they relate. 
 

 

3 Application for a New Premises Licence by Kingsley Adjei for the 
premises known as Palm Island Lounge, 1 Craven Park Road, NW10 
8SE, pursuant to the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003  

 

1 - 66 

 . 
 

 

 
Date of the next meeting:  14 June 2023 
 

 Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting. 

 The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 
members of the public. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

LICENSING ACT 2003 
 

Application for a New Premises Licence 
 
 
1. The Application 
 

Name of Applicant: Kingsley Adjei 

  

Name & Address of Premises: Palm Island Lounge, 1 Craven Park Road, NW10 8SE 

  

Applicants Agent:  

  

 
 
1. Application 
 
 The application is for a new premises licence as follows: 
 

To provide: Live music from 11pm to 4am Friday - Sunday. 
Recorded music, & Late Night Refreshment from 11pm to 4am Monday to Sunday 
The Supply of Alcohol and to remain open from 5pm to 4am Monday to Sunday 
 
 

2. Background 
 
 None 
  
 
3. Promotion of the Licensing Objectives 
 

The premises previously known as Vbyz Bar operated as a nightclub for a number of years. 
Due to crime and disorder linked to the premises, the premise licence was revoked in 2022 
following a Closure Notice instigated by the Metropolitan Police 

 
4. Relevant Representations 
 
 Representations have been received from The Licensing Police, Town Centre Police, 

Licensing Officers, Planning, Ward Councillor and local residents 
 

The Nuisance control team have agreed conditions. 
 
5. Interested Parties 
 
 None 
 
 
6. Policy Considerations 
 
 Policy 1 – Process for Applications 
  

Conditions on the licence, additional to those voluntarily sought/agreed by the applicant, 
may be considered.  Conditions will focus on matters which are within the control of 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



individual licensee and which relate to the premises or areas being used for licensable 
activities, the potential impact of the resulting activities in the vicinity. If situations arise 
where the licensing objectives may be undermined but cannot be dealt with by the use 
of appropriate conditions the Licensing Authority will consider whether it is appropriate for a 
licence to be granted or continue to operate. 

 
 
7. Associated Papers 
       

A. Application Form & plan   
B. Licensing Representation 
C. Licensing Police Representation 
D. Town Centre Police Rep 
E. Planning Rep 
F. Councillor Rep 
G. Local Resident Reps  
H. NCT Rep & Withdrawal 
I. OS Map 

 

Page 2



Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



 

 

 EMERGENCY EXIST  

   SITTING /CHAIRS/TABLES 

 

 

 

 EMERGENCY EXIST  

 

   SITTING /CHAIRS/TABLES 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Page | 1  

 

  Brent Civic Centre 

  Engineers Way 

  Wembley 

  Middlesex HA9 0FJ 

 TEL 020 8937 5303 

 

 EMAIL esther.chan@brent.gov.uk 

   WEB www.brent.gov.uk 

 
Kingsley Adjei 
Palm Island Lounge, 
1 Craven Park Road 
NW10 8SE 
 
17 May 2023 
 
Our Ref: 27896 
 
Dear Kingsley Adjei, 
 
Licensing Representation to the Initial Application for the Premises Licence at Palm Island 
Lounge, 1 Craven Park Road, NW10 8SE 

 
I certify that I have considered the application shown above and I wish to make a representation 
that the likely effect of the grant of the application is detrimental to the Licensing Objectives for the 
reasons indicated below. 
 
An officer of the Licensing Authority, in whose area the premises are situated, who is 
authroised for the purposes of exercising its statutory function as a ‘Responsible Authority’ 
under the Licensing Act 2003. 

The application has been made for a new premises licence under section 17 of the Act. 

The Licensing Authority representations are primarily concerned with the four licensing objectives; 
• the prevention of crime and disorder;  
• public safety;  
• the prevention of public nuisance; and  
• the protection of children from harm. 
 
The premise is located in Harlesden town centre, which consists of a series of parades of shops 
that run along Craven Park, Craven Park Road, Park Parade and High Street Harlesden. The town 
centre falls between, Harlesden and Kensal Green ward and is one of the most deprived areas in 
the borough.   
 
Harlesden Town Centre is a hotspot for crime and anti-social behaviour, which is having an adverse 
impact in some areas and neighbourhoods generating complaints from residents, councillors and 
the Police.  
 
The premises previously known as Vbyz Bar operated as a nightclub for a number of years. Due to 
crime and disorder linked to the premises, the premise licence was revoked in 2022 following a 
Closure Notice instigated by the Metropolitan Police.  

Page 19

http://www.brent.gov.uk/


Page | 2  

 

 
On 28 April 2023, I communicated with the applicant via email to sought further information 
regarding the business operation and requested current photo images of the premises alongside a 
legible plan. 
 
On 1 May 2023, the applicant provided his answers to my questions with photo images and an 
updated plan. (Appendix 1 & 2).  
 
On assessing the new application on its own merit, the operating schedule fails to demonstrate that 
a grant will not lead to a negative impact on one or more of the licensing objectives and to the 
contrary add to the issues of an existing challenging area. 
 
Although, the applicant describe the premises to be a restaurant and bar on the operating schedule, 
the proposal for late opening hours and the information provided (Appendix 1) suggest that the 
premise will likely operate as a nightclub.  
 
Furthermore, there is no planning permission for the extension to the rear known as the ‘Lounge 
Area (Wooden Shed)’. If this area is used for licensable activities, it may have significant impact on 
public safety and local residents whether it stays in its current form or removed under Planning 
Regulations.  
 
It is on this basis, that the Licensing Authority ask that the application for a new premises licence is 
refused by the Licensing Sub-Committee.   
 
If the committee however decide that there is sufficient evidence to the contrary, the Licensing 
Authority would ask that the following conditions be added to the operating schedule:- 
 
1. CCTV shall be installed to Home Office Guidance standards and maintained in a good working 
condition and recordings shall be kept for 31 days and shall be made available to police and 
authorised Officers from Brent Council. 
 
2. The CCTV system shall be capable of obtaining clear facial recognition images and a clear 
head and shoulders image of every person entering or leaving the premises. 
 
3. CCTV camera shall be installed to cover the front external area of the premises. 
 
4. The CCTV images shall be kept in an easily downloadable format.   
 
5. A member of staff trained in the use of the CCTV system shall be available at the premise at all 
times that the premises are open to the public.  
             
6. A “Challenge 25” policy shall be adopted and adhered to at all times 
 
7. A sign stating “No proof of age – No sale” shall be displayed at the point of sale. 
 
8. Alcohol to be consumed on the premises shall only be provided as an accompaniment to a 
meal. Customers are not be allowed to sit, stand or be served from the bar area, or any other staff 
area used for the preparation of alcoholic beverages. 
 
9. Substantial food and non-intoxicating beverages, including drinking water, shall be available in 
all parts of the premises where alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on the premises 

Page 20



Page | 3  

 

 
10. A copy of the premises licence summary including the hours which licensable activities are 
permitted shall be visible from  the outside of each entrance to the premises. 
 
11. Regular documented staff training on licensing legislation and operating procedures shall be 
given. The training shall be signed and dated and a copy of these training records available for 
inspection by Police and local authority enforcement officers. 
 
12. An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available for inspection on request to 
an authorised officer of Brent Council or the  Police, which will record the following: 
       a)  all crimes reported to the venue 
       (b)  all ejections of patrons 
       (c)  any complaints received 
       (d)  any incidents of disorder 
       (e)  all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons 
       (f)  any faults in the CCTV system or searching equipment or  
        scanning equipment 
        (g)  any refusal of the sale of alcohol 
        (h) any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service. 
 
13. Notices asking customers to leave quietly shall be conspicuously displayed at all exits. 
 
14. No entry or re-entry shall be permitted after 23:00 hours. 
 
15. A personal licence holder conversant in English shall be present on the premises and 
supervise the sale of alcohol throughout the permitted hours for the sale of alcohol. 
 
16. The designated smoking area (DSA) shall be located at the front of the premises facing  
Craven Park Road.  When the premises licence is in operation the DSA shall be limited to no more 
than 5 (five) people at any one time.  This shall be supervised at all times. 
 
17. Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises to smoke shall be 
restricted to a designated smoking area at the front of the premises. 
 
18. Customers shall not be permitted to take open alcoholic drink containers outside the premises 
as defined on the plan submitted to and approved by the Licensing Authority. 
 
19. Unaccompanied children shall not be permitted on the premises at any time. All children under 
the age of 18 shall be accompanied by a responsible adult at all times. 
 
20. Deliveries shall be accepted between the hours of 09.00hrs and 18.00hrs. 
 
21. A capacity specific risk assessment shall be conducted by a professional qualified risk 
assessor. This risk assessment shall be appraised annually or at the time of any building or layout 
structural works. 
 
22. The playing of live or recorded music shall not be permitted in the rear Lounge Area. 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



Page | 4  

 

The Licensing Authority propose the reduction of the following hours: 
 
Recorded Music (Changed) 
Friday to Saturday – 23:00hrs to 23:30hrs 
 
Late Night Refreshments (Changed) 
Friday to Saturday – 23:00hrs to 23:30hrs 
 
Sale or Supply of Alcohol (Changed) 
Sunday to Thursday – 17:00hrs to 22:30hrs 
Friday to Saturday – 17:00hrs to 23:30hrs 
 
Hours Open to the Public  
Sunday to Thursday – 17:00hrs to 23:00hrs 
Friday to Saturday – 17:00hrs to 00:00hrs  
 
Yours faithfully,  

 

 
 

Esther Chan 
Licensing Inspector 
Regulatory Services 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



APPENDIX 2  
 

 

 
 

 

Page 29



APPENDIX 2  
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



APPENDIX 2  
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 31



APPENDIX 2  
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



APPENDIX 2  
 

 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Kingsley Adjei  
Sent: 22 May 2023 17:11 
To: Esther, Chan  
Cc: Business Licence <business.licence@brent.gov.uk>; Legister, Linda  
Subject: Re: CONSULT: New Premises - Palm Island Lounge, 1 Craven Park Road, NW10 8SE - 27896 
 
Dear Esther, 
 
 
Thank you for the clarification. 
 
 
Many thanks  
Kingsley  
__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
On Mon, 22 May 2023 at 17:06, Esther, Chan  wrote: 

Dear Kingsley Adjei, 

Thank you for your email. 

The Licensing Authority have technically rejected your application, therefore you are required to 
attend the hearing. 

In the case that sub-committee decide to grant the application, the Licensing Authority have 
recommended the conditions and hours, which the sub-committee will consider as part of their 
decision.  

I hope this clarifies my position on the behalf of the Licensing Authority. 

Kind Regards 

Esther Chan 

Licensing Inspector 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

From: Kingsley Adjei   
Sent: 19 May 2023 05:55 
To: Esther, Chan   
Cc: Business Licence <business.licence@brent.gov.uk>; Legister, Linda  

Subject: Re: CONSULT: New Premises - Palm Island Lounge, 1 Craven Park Road, NW10 8SE - 27896 

Dear Esther,  

I understand and I am willing to accept the terms and conditions proposed by the licensing authority. 
However, please is it possible, to request one additional hour of the suggested time. 

Does that imply that we won't need to attend a hearing if we reach a decision? 

Recorded Music (Changed) 

Page 35

mailto:business.licence@brent.gov.uk
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.google.com/maps/search/1*Craven*Park*Road,*NW10*8SE?entry=gmail&source=g__;KysrKys!!CVb4j_0G!RvMuvP_sYP5vn7No_acqXYEMg0KzWoaGa7j0hBA1t2_ieY-uBCOdJGqziDTk0Bb8PMzE2B0ZI8TtHRTDNLAWrWLz0TOvagNN4mk$


Sunday to Thursday – 23:00hrs to 23:30hrs 

Friday to Saturday – 23:00hrs to 00:30hrs 

Late Night Refreshments (Changed) 

Sunday to Thursday- 23:00hrs to 23:30hrs 

Friday to Saturday – 23:00hrs to 00:30hrs 

Sale or Supply of Alcohol (Changed) 

Sunday to Thursday – 17:00hrs to 23:30hrs 

Friday to Saturday – 17:00hrs to 00:30hrs 

Hours Open to the Public 

Sunday to Thursday – 17:00hrs to 00:00hrs Friday to Saturday – 17:00hrs to 01:00hrs 

Your response will be appreciate.  

Kind regards 

Kingsley Adjei. 

Page 36



  

 
 

  
 
Palm Island Longe 

1 Craven Park Road 
Brent 
NW10 8SE  

 

 

Your Ref: 27896 

Our ref: 01QK/316/23/1187NW 

 

Our ref: 01QK/216/3302/20 

 

NW BCU Licensing Department - Brent  
Harrow Police Station 
74, Northolt Road 
Harrow 
HA2 ODN 

Tel: 020 8733 5008 
Email: nwmailbox.licensingbrent@met.police.uk 

Web: www.met.police.uk 
 

Date: Tuesday 9th May 2023 

  
Police objection to the application of a New Premises Licence application a for ‘Palm Island 
Lounge, 1 Craven Park Road, NW10 8SE’ 
 
Police certify that we have considered the application shown above and wish to make 
representations that the likely effect of the grant of the application is detrimental to the 
Council’s Licensing Objectives for the reasons indicated below. 
 
An officer of the Metropolitan Police, in whose area the premises are situated, who is 
authorised for the purposes of exercising its statutory function as a ‘Responsible Authority’ 
under the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
The Police are concerned with the following licensing objectives. 
 
• The prevention of crime and disorder;  
• Public safety;  
• The prevention of public nuisance. 
 
The Application 
 
Palm Island Lounge propose to be a bar/ restaurant at 1 Craven Park Road, Harlesden NW10 
8SE. The premises was previously run as a night club previously known as Vybz Bar. 
 
I am a Police Officer attached to the NORTH WEST Basic Command Unit (BCU). I have been a 
police officer for 25 years and have been the borough licensing officer for the last 2 years. I 
am aware of the issues facing the local community including the prolonged problems with 
supply of drugs and anti-social behaviour in HARLESDEN in particular on PARK 
PARADE/Craven Park Road NW10.  
 
On the 9th August 2022, Vybz Bar had a Closure Order granted by Willesden Magistrates 
Court for 3 months which was extended to 6 months. The Closure Order was granted due to 
the continuous problems with crime and disorder, Anti-social behaviour and violence with 
injury. This resulted in Vybz Bar having its licence revoked. 

Page 37



  

 
Since the closure order was granted on the premises, police noticed a drastic drop in the 
number of calls relating to violence with injury in and around the immediate area. Craven 
Park road/Park Parade NW10 is a hot spot for drug dealing and drug use. Should this 
premises open it will just offer drug dealers a new set of cliental to sell to.  
 
Since the licence for Vybz Bar was revoked. Mr Kingsley ADJEI has since applied for a New 
Premises Licence for the same venue and changed the name to Palm Island Lounge. Mr 
Kingsley ADJEI has proposed the same operating schedule as what Vybz Bar had with the 
following licensable activities.  
 
Late night refreshments from Monday to Sunday between 23.00hrs and 04.00hrs. 
 
Sale or supply of alcohol on the premises From Monday to Sunday between 17.00hrs and 
04.00hrs.  
 
Recorded and Live music from Monday to Sunday between 23.00hrs and 04.00hrs 
 
Opening hours of the premises are Monday to Sunday between 17.00hrs and 04.00hrs.  
 
During the Closure Order Mr Kingsley ADJEI has breached the Closure Order by allowing 
builders into the premises in order to construct  a shelter in the rear of the property to 
increase the numbers permitted to the venue. People were only allowed to enter the 
property to carry out essential maintenance. Building a structure to increase capacity is not 
deemed as essential maintenance. 
 
Craven Park Road is a hotspot for street drinking. Should another premises open with a 
licence until 04.00hrs, this will only encourage more of a night life, with more street drinking 
taking place. This causing a problem to the local residents with extra noise until 04.00hrs as 
Palm Island Lounge is located on a busy parade of shops with residential flats above and 
surrounding the venue. This also causing a nuisance to the local business owners due to 
empty drinks containers, broken glass bottles and take away wrappers scattered in the 
street.  
 
Police are requesting that the premises licence not be granted. Police feel that if the licence 
should be granted it will undermine all four of the licensing objectives especially the 
prevention of crime and disorder and public nuisance as the activities that are happening in 
and around the premises are having an effect on the local residents/ businesses. 
 
 
 
PC Brendon MCINNES 1187NW 
NW BCU - Brent Licensing 
 
 
 
            
 

Page 38



Dear PC Brendon, 
  
I acknowledge the effort you and your team put out in Craven Park. Regarding what you said about 
drug users and dealers using my location as a spot to attract customers. I’m not saying that it will not 
occur outside the premises as I cannot control people behaviour outside my premise but only control 
people coming into the premises.  
 
However, we have a policy in place that forbids people from coming into the premises with drugs or 
using drugs in the premises. Anyone coming into the premises will be searched at the door before 
entry and if such things are found, we will refuse entry. So therefore my business will not entertain 
such behaviours/act in the premises. 
  
During the period the formal business (VYBZ BAR) trading in the premises had a closure order on 
them, I wasn’t involved with the premises. I only got involved with the premises as the estate agent 
was helping me look for some properties to start my business and I liked the premises and leased it 
in December. The estate agent didn’t tell me about workers not being allowed in the premises and as 
soon as the police made me aware that builders wasn’t allowed and they evacuated the place with 
immediate effect. I contacted  the police to make sure we understood what was happening and no 
one went in there until the closure order ended. So it wouldn’t be fair to hold me accountable for 
something I had no idea of. As soon as I was aware I complied with it and that should show you I’m 
willing to abide by the law. 
 
You expressed a concern about the working hours since you felt they were comparable to Vybz bar. It 
appears that Vybz bar used to be open from 8 p.m. to 3 a.m., but I'm asking for 5 p.m. to 4 a.m., and 
we will be providing different activities, so I'm not sure why you believe it's the same as Vybz bar. 
 
Regarding your concern about Public Nuisance, we have a policy in place that instructs all customers 
to depart the premises silently while exiting the venue and security will make sure people coming 
into the premises behave in an orderly manner which will not upset the residents.  
 
Regarding your concern about street drinking and loitering, I have a policy that states  no drinks or 
food is permitted to leave the area, where as our staffs will make sure this policy is being followed. 
This will even help limit people's tendency to leave litter outside the venue or neighbouring premises 
and make the environment clean.  
  
If a licence to operate until 4am is granted, the public, the police and the company will all benefit. 
Craven Park appears to have a bad reputation in Harlesden, but if given the chance, I would like to be 
the one to make a good difference. This is because there will be a drastic reduction in street drinking 
because our premises can be used as a venue for drinking to minimise people from drinking on the 
street carelessly and without proper supervision. Operating until 4am, it will also provide adequate 
time for individuals to leave the area before 4am. I have nothing more to say, but I can only 
conclusively demonstrate to you and the licence authorities. 
 
  
 
Kind regards 
  
  
Kingsley Adjei. 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Brent Licensing Team 
Brent Council 
 
  
 
 
 

Harlesden Town Centre Team 
Harlesden Police station 
76 Craven Park 
Harlesden 
NW10 8RJ 
 

Telephone: 0208 733 3835 
 
Email:  
www.met.police.uk 

Your ref: Palm Island Lounge - 
Application: 27896 
Our ref: Representation  

02/05/2023 

 

 

 

 
 
Dear Licensing,  
 
Re, licensing application; 
Palm Island Lounge 
1 Craven Park Road 
London 
NW10 8SE 
 

I am the police Inspector of Harlesden Town Centre Team. I have over 19 years’ 

service. Prior to my appointment I was the Learning & Development Inspector for 

NW-BCU, this entailed training new Constables and delivering a new recruitment 

pathway, previous to this I worked as a Duty Officer on an Emergency Response 

Team in Hillingdon as well as being a Safer Neighbourhood Sergeant for three wards 

in Hammersmith and Fulham, previous to this St Margaret’s Ward Sergeant in 

Richmond Borough, Safer Transport Command, MSC Volunteers and other specialist 

roles including firearms.   

My team was newly created and launched on 14th February 2022 to help improve 

trust and confidence in the police, reduce violence, violence against women and girls 

and to reduce Anti-Social Behaviour in Harlesden town centre. During the first 8 

weeks of operation the team had achieved a 9.2% reduction in overall crime in the 

town centre and ASB related calls to High Street, Harlesden which is the focal point 

of the town centre reduced by 90%.  

We know from these results and our increased visibility in the town centre, the 

community are informing us of the difference they are seeing and the fact that they 

are feeling safer to walk the streets. The chair of Harlesden Safer Neighbourhood 

Panel has said much the same after speaking with many community members.  

 Page 41



In my role as Town Centre Team Inspector I am expected to do everything in my 

power to help the residents and community of Harlesden in reducing ASB, violence, 

drug dealing, licensing issues and to use various problem solving tools and initiatives 

to do this. 

As you may know, formerly Vybz Bar before being renamed to Palm Island Lounge 

was a persistent problem in the town centre for residents, businesses and the police. 

The issues had been taking place for several years and were increasing the levels of 

Anti-Social Behaviour, violence with injury and general disorder. After my teams 

intervention the venue was closed down for a total of 6 months and had its alcohol 

licence revoked.  

After the closure of the premises we saw a decrease in violence with injury calls to 

the immediate area around the venue and complaints of ASB ceased. We received 

only positive comments about the closure and no one came forward supporting the 

re-opening of the venue.  

There are still at least two main drug dealing areas on Craven Park Road and High 

Street, these straddle Palm Island Lounge. These groups have been causing a 

misery to residents and businesses for some time, and we are looking to make the 

environment as hostile as possible for them to operate in. Having Palm Island 

Lounge reopen will just continue to fuel this activity even further and give them a new 

supply of customers, especially if the premises was open until 4am, where there are 

limited police resources available and if any ASB/disorder takes place it would place 

pressure on the response teams to attend and deal.  

The demand on Brent’s police response team is already immense, with most days 

having 30-50 calls unanswered. If the venue were to reopen, there will be incidents of 

serious disorder and likely the same groups of people who previously attended will 

no doubt return to the venue. During several incidents of assaults causing GBH 

including a stabbing, officers often had to put crime scenes in place which had to be 

staffed by more officers and sometimes were in place for several days. This would 

put further pressure on the response teams and disrupt the local residents and 

businesses.   

We received complaints from local residents living in close proximity to Vybz Bar and 

from business owners who are very close to the venue which is in-between a row of 

shops and not in an isolated area. The reopening of this venue would seriously 

impact the lives and wellbeing of the residents in the immediate vicinity of the venue, 

and regardless of any attempt to install sound proofing there will always be 

associated noise and disorder outside the venue.  

We have had complaints from businesses that they fear any reopening of the venue 

will mean a return of the issues previously experienced with one business owner 

stating;  

“It has been a bit a lot better on weekends without the broken bottles, empty cans 

and food boxes, not forgetting the urine/faeces in doorways, blood on the pavements, 

Police cordon at our busiest times i.e. weekends, plus loud music from vehicles and 

mobile DJs on scooters. The street fights were a regular feature” 

Page 42



Harlesden Town Centre is a hotspot for street drinking, with a current Public Spaces 

Protection Order in force. This is to combat the persistent ASB problem that is 

associated with this activity. Extensive work has gone into this order, as well as 

licence visits and conditions on local businesses selling alcohol but we still struggle 

to contain this issue. A further licenced premises open until 4am would only fuel this 

behaviour and go against all the work that has been completed to try and kerb this 

important issue. 

Due to the high levels of ASB in the town centre, the team have obtained and 

implemented over six open spaces Closure Orders. These orders were necessary 

due to the serious ongoing ASB in the street, at areas near to Palm Island Lounge. 

These orders gave officers powers to arrest if people were in a certain area and are 

designed to reduce ASB. Considering that Harlesden town centre has the highest 

congregation of approved open spaces Closure Orders in the whole of London and 

believed country, it would be completely irresponsible to allow Palm Island Lounge to 

reopen in the midst of this Anti-Social Behaviour Legislation being used and 

approved by Magistrates Courts to reduce and prevent ASB. 

Harlesden Town Centre is just not equipped or suited to contain another nightclub, 

there is just not the infrastructure, police resources, community will to have one 

reopen. There is also concern over the new size of the venue, with a new purpose 

built wooden room filling the entire rear garden of the premises where “only smoking 

was previously allowed” means the venue’s capacity has doubled or even tripled.  

There are serious doubts about the new owner and manager, who we still believe 

have contact with the previous owner/manager and are not convinced that the plans 

and promises made by them will be upheld.  

Considering that in breach of the then in force Closure Order, the owner/manager 

allowed builders to enter the closed venue to start building the rear structure when 

they were aware that only “maintenance work” was allowed as well as questions over 

their planning permission.  

I am also concerned that the manager has mentioned in a response to a 

representation that they “will engage with a security firm”, concerns me greatly, the 

fact that they have built an entire structure in the garden and have yet to consult with 

any security firms, to me shows that security of their venue is a second thought.  

 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Andy Le Geyt 
Inspector 
Harlesden Town Centre Team 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 45



Page 46



 

 

 

 

 

Brent Licensing Team 
Brent Council 
 
  
 
 
 

Harlesden Town Centre Team 
Harlesden Police station 
76 Craven Park 
Harlesden 
NW10 8RJ 
 

Telephone: 0208 733 3835 
 
Email: p234380@met.police.uk 
www.met.police.uk 

Your ref: Palm Island Lounge - 
Application: 27896 
Our ref: Representation  

04/05/2023 

 

 

 

 
 
To whom it may concern, 
 
Regarding the licensing application for Palm Island Lounge, formerly Vybz Bar, at 1, 
Craven Park Road, NW10 8SE. 
 

I am one of the Police Sergeants on the Harlesden Town Centre Team. I have 

worked in this role for about 15 months and spend most of my policing days within 

Harlesden’s Town Centre. When I do work elsewhere, I am often posted with the 

borough’s response team officers. In conversation about my work these officers often 

tell me 2 things; That they feel like they don’t get called to Harlesden as much any 

more and that they are glad Vybz bar is shut because they don’t get called to serious 

assaults outside Vybz bar at 5am almost every Saturday and Sunday morning 

involving it’s drunken patrons. In my experience no other venue on the borough has 

anywhere near such a reputation for serious violence as Vybz Bar. I am told that 1 

Craven Park Road is still owned by the same people and although the name of the 

proposed licencee and proposed name of the venue has changed I have every belief 

that being under the same ownership will lead to the same problems. 

 

Craven Park Road, and Harlesden in general, is not well served by public transport in 

the early hours of the morning for the patrons leaving the proposed Palm Island 

Lounge. In my experience, while Vybz Bar was open it attracted people to drive there 

from all over London and it’s patrons were responsible for most of the cars parked in 

the vicinity. I can only imagine Palm Island Lounge will attract the same clientele. 

This is obviously concerning for a business whose main income is from the supply of 

alcohol and no doubt will lead to drink driving and it’s known dangers. 

 Page 47



Harlesden Town Centre, although it is a busy high street type environment, is 

actually a largely residential area. Most of the shops have 2 floors of flats 

immediately above the business. Usually there are 3-6 flats above each business. I 

have visited a number of these flats in the course of my duty and found they contain 

anything from single residents to large families with many children. This means that 

any business causing issues affects a large number of residents that would not be 

the case in other town centres such as Harrow or Uxbridge where there are far fewer 

dwellings. I cannot imagine what the residents living above and near Vybz Bar went 

through having broken sleep every weekend with drunk people shouting and fighting 

outside all through the night. It is not suitable to have a night club surrounded by 

residential premises. 

 

I have noticed on patrols recently that by 11pm almost all the businesses in the 

Harlesden Town Centre have shut and the footfall and traffic have largely died off. 

This is no doubt a great relief to the residents of the area. 

 

In short, a late night bar is not in keeping with the area. If this license were granted it 

is likely to lead to an increase in crime and disorder that will need police resources to 

deal with. It is highly likely to lead to ASB experienced by the large number of 

residents in the area every night the premises is open and this ASB will be of the 

nature that has a significant detrimental impact on the residents of the area. 

 
Respectfully submitted for consideration. 
 
 
 
Sergeant Chris Millar 376NW 
Harlesden Town Centre Team 
Harlesden Police Station. 
 

Page 48



Dear Sergeant Millar, 
  
I acknowledge the work yourself and your team have done the last couple of 
months. However, as I have informed your team that I will have tight security on 
the premises to prevent such before. From my understanding and the research I 
did, it seems that Vybz bar didn’t have control of their customers and enough 
security to avoid such behaviour which may have led to endless phone calls.  
 
Your team and yourself have addressed lack of punctuality Vybz bar had and the 
time I have requested for is the maximum time I would like to operate meaning I 
won’t have to exceed my time and have enough to evacuate my customers. The 
customers will consume alcohol inside the premises, but this will be controlled to 
avoid unacceptable behaviour and customers will be instructed by security to 
leave the premises quietly and not to stay at neighbouring premises to avoid any 
disturbance towards the residents. I understand that Vybz bar had a bad 
reputation however, just to clarify Vybz bar is not in any connection with us. As 
the power you hold, background check could have been done to just clarify this 
accusation rather than a hearsay.  
 
In addition, the same problems that Vybz bar had will not repeat itself at Palm 
Island Lounge as we intend to take a lot of measures for history not to repeat 
itself.  
  
In the early hours of closing, customers are expected to have transport 
arrangements to go back home as security will advise them to leave the premises 
and neighbouring premises in a good manner.  There is a large car park nearby 
which can be used if there is not enough parking space to avoid any sort of 
obstruction in the road. My business does supply alcohol, but it doesn’t mean we 
are promoting drink driving. As we are all aware that there are numerous 
businesses in the UK that sells alcohol which my business won’t be the first and 
we’re aimed to follow personal license objectives to avoid our customers from 
getting heavily drunk. 
  
My business is not a nightclub, more of a bar and restaurant and we intend to 
keep the music to a standard volume, so residents upstairs or nearby are not 
heavily disturbed. I have also spoken to the residents that live above the shops 
and some nearby who feel like they don’t have something like this in Harlesden 
and some residents even sees it as a job opportunity as I have been approached 
numerous times by them seeking for jobs. However, doing something like with 
good management will even make it safer for both the community and our 
customers. If customers decide to leave, they will be instructed to leave but won’t 
be allowed to stay outside the premises once they leave, unless they are waiting 
for their transport. 
 

Page 49



I understand that most of the nightclubs are not surrounded by residential areas, 
but this is why we have put soundproofing insulation throughout the premises to 
reduce noise from disturbing neighbours upstairs or nearby. However, Vybz bar 
has a bad reputation, and this could be the potential reason why the Police team 
is being against the idea of operating, but I can assure you that we’re going to 
manage the business differently from the previous owners. 
  
Craven Park Road is located on a high street which will always have traffic like 
any other Highstreet in the UK especially during 9am – 5pm where most 
businesses operate but as you can see, I’m requesting the council to provide me 
with hours of 5pm – 4am so meaning my operating hours will have a less 
contribute to the levels of traffic. 
  
The crime rate in Brent is high and I don’t intend to increase it that’s why I have 
planned to put security measures in place. I hope you and the police force will see 
this business as a positivity to Harlesden and job opportunities to the people in 
the community.  
  
  
  
Many thanks  
 
 
Kingsley Adjei. 
 

Page 50



From: Rolt, Tim  
Sent: 05 May 2023 10:48 
To: Business Licence <business.licence@brent.gov.uk> 
Cc: Esther, Chan McGann, John; Patel, Kushal  ; Planning Enforcement Team 
<planningenforcement@brent.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: New Licence (ex Vybz Bar) Palm Island Lounge, 1 Craven Park Rd 
 
Dear Licensing  
 
The Planning Service would like to raise an objection against the granting of the 
license, due to the fact that the extension to the rear of the premises does not benefit 
from planning permission, and it is included within the licensable area highlighted on 
the plan. The unauthorised rear extension causes significant planning impact, and 
the council intends to pursue enforcement action in regards to the extension. I would 
also point our that the planning history of this property is appalling with flagrant 
breaches of planning control taking place over the last 6 years. 
 
Tim Rolt 
Planning Enforcement Manager 
Communties & Regeneration 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Good afternoon, 
 
Regarding the former owners' terrible behaviour and management, as well as their lack 
of concern for the general public and their customers, I appreciate your worry and the 
issue you have brought up. I want to be clear that I, the new owner of the premises 
currently doing business as Palm Island lounge, have no connections to or affiliation 
with Vybz Bar. 
 
Regarding your worry about street drinking in Harlesden, granting me the licence will 
also make it possible for me to lessen street drinking because my venue can be utilised 
to limit people from drinking on the street with proper control over the alcohol we sell, 
and this can also control the behaviour of street drinkers. If I am granted the licence, I 
can supervise and monitor the behaviour of people drinking in the venue, which will 
reduce people from going outside with a drink. We have a policy that specifies no 
alcohol is authorised to leave the premises and must be consumed in the premises 
before leaving. We can all agree that while we can't stop individuals from drinking, we 
can manage how much they consume and how they behave while doing so. 
 
I am aware of all the issues you raised regarding the previous owners' lack of concern 
for customers and their lack of adequate security to maintain tranquillity and order at the 
premises. However, to prevent the experiences some customers and members of the 
public had while the previous owners were in operation, I have put security measures in 
place to safeguard the safety of the clients, employees, and members of the public, we 
will engage with a security guard firm to supply us with necessary security presence.  
 
Regarding the building concern you raised, I can reassure you that the new owner 
followed the proper procedure by making an enquiry to the council to make sure I was 
abiding by the rules. The structure was built with fire alarms, emergency lighting and fire 
doors installed to ensure that there is a low chance of fire dangers in the building. 
Insulation is also installed throughout the building to prevent noise from leaving the 
building and upsetting the residents. 
 
Additionally, there is a strong policy that forbids intoxicated people from entering the 
premises and a policy of last entry time that our Security will enforce to prevent people 
from entering the premises after the given time and also security will make sure 
customers do not linger outside the venue if they’re not entering. We also have a rule 
that says customers must exit the venue peacefully and quietly without upsetting nearby 
residents. Security officers and employees will make sure this rule is adhered.  
 
However, Customers will be thoroughly searched for sharp objects and illicit substances 
before entering the premises because it is against our policy to allow the sale of illegal 
substances there any one who is found with such substances will be refused entry. 
 
I recognise the worries about the previous owners' poor management, but I can 
guarantee you it wouldn't happen under my management since I've thought over all the 
risks and put safeguards in place to stop such behaviour from occurring. You won't 

Page 61



understand this unless you give me an opportunity to run my business, and I'll be able 
to prove to you that we take great delight in safeguarding our customers and members 
of the public. You can hold me accountable if I don't follow any licencing regulations. I 
urge you to trust the new organisation wholeheartedly. 
 
 
Kind Regards 
 
Kingsley Adjei. 
 

Page 62



From: Joshi, Ketan   
Sent: 06 May 2023 17:44 
To: Kingsley Adjei   
Cc: Business Licence <business.licence@brent.gov.uk>; Esther, Chan <Esther.Chan@brent.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: CONSULT: New Premises - Palm Island Lounge, 1 Craven Park Road, NW10 8SE - 27896 

Dear Kingsley Adjei 

Thank you for your response. I am now withdrawing my representation and have no further 
objection to your application. 
 
Regards 
 
Ketan Joshi 
Nuisance Control Officer 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
From: Kingsley Adjei  
Sent: 06 May 2023 02:39 
To: Joshi, Ketan  
Cc: Business Licence <business.licence@brent.gov.uk>; Esther, Chan <Esther.Chan@brent.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: CONSULT: New Premises - Palm Island Lounge, 1 Craven Park Road, NW10 8SE - 27896 
 
Dear Ketan,  
 
I am willing to observe the conditions below. 
 
Many Thanks 
 
Kingsley Adjei. 
 
On Sat, 6 May 2023 at 01:13, Joshi, Ketan <Ketan.Joshi@brent.gov.uk> wrote: 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Dear Kingsley Adjei 

Premises: Palm Island Lounge, 1 Craven Park Road, NW10 8SE 

LICENSING ACT 2003 
Licence: New Premises 

Reference: 27896 

I have reviewed the application shown above and I wish to make representation that the likely effect 
of the approval of the New Premises Application in its current state is likely to be detrimental to the 
Licensing Objectives with regards to the prevention of public nuisance. Representation is made on 
the grounds that the application proposes operating during a noise sensitive time (up to 4am) but 
the operating schedule does not adequately address the issue of prevention of public nuisance from 
airborne entertainment noise and dispersal noise from patrons entering/exiting the premises. 

Therefore the following conditions are recommended for the prevention of nuisance from noise: 

 

Page 63

mailto:Ketan.Joshi@brent.gov.uk
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.google.com/maps/search/1*Craven*Park*Road,*NW10*8SE?entry=gmail&source=g__;KysrKys!!CVb4j_0G!RWnJfvI2SI0ypXgfDPfZecZGnjZ6Mi0PwYB2eaGGGOzcx2c1-z5SeiP5etu3fkuXy4pLPhvH6T9PV-8qe0ogufkqSlc5Q7pQ$


Airborne 

• All doors and windows will remain closed during the licensed activities. Where a door is used 
for patrons to enter or leave the premises, it shall be self-closing and/or a member of staff 
shall be positioned at the door to ensure it is opened for as brief a period as possible.  

Sound limits  

• The licensee shall ensure that music played in the licensed premises is not audible at or 
within the site boundary of any residential property. 

• No form of loudspeaker or sound amplification equipment is to be sited on or near the exterior 
of the premises or in or near any foyer, doorway, window or opening to the premises. 

Patrons entering/exiting premises 

• Where people queue to enter the premises a licensed door supervisor shall supervise and 
ensure that potential patrons behave in an acceptable manner. 

• When the premises turn out, a licensed door supervisor shall supervise patrons and ensure 
they leave in a prompt and courteous manor, respecting the neighbours. Signs should be 
displayed instructing patrons to respect the neighbours and behave in a courteous manner. 

The above are basic conditions for good management practice and business operation in a mixed 
commercial/residential setting. Observing these conditions should meet the licencing objective in 
relation to public nuisance and minimise complaints from local residents. 

Please reply to this email to confirm whether or not you are willing to observe the conditions as 
above. If you are willing to accept the proposed conditions, the Nuisance Control Team will be in a 
position to withdraw the representation and we will not have any further my objection to your 
application. 

Regards 
 

Ketan Joshi 
Nuisance Control Officer 

 

Page 64



Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Application for a New Premises Licence by Kingsley Adjei for the premises known as Palm Island Lounge, 1 Craven Park Road, NW10 8SE, pursuant to the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003
	3.2 Palm - Application
	3.3 Palm - Plan
	3.4 Palm - Licensing Rep
	3.5 Palm - Licensing Rep - APPENDIX-1-REDACTED
	3.6 Palm - Licensing Rep - APPENDIX-2-Photo-Images
	3.7 Palm - Licensing Correspondence
	3.8 Palm - Police Reps
	3.9 Palm - Applicant response to Police
	3.10 Palm - Town Centre Police Rep - ALG
	3.11 Palm - Applicant response to Town Centre Police Rep - ALG
	3.12 Palm - Town Centre Police Rep - PS Millar
	3.13 Palm - Applicant response to Town Centre Police - PS Millar
	3.14 Palm - Planning Representation
	3.15 Palm - Cllr Chan Rep
	3.16 Palm - Resident Rep 1
	3.17 Palm - Resident Rep 2
	3.18 Palm - Applicant Response to Resident Reps
	3.19 Palm - NCT Objection & Withdrawal
	3.20 Palm - OS Map


